- 6. Hawks D. Not a single vote: The politics of public health: An interview with Michael Wooldridge. *Health Promot J Austr.* 2002;13 (2):19-22.
- Department of Premier and Cabinet. The History of the National Reform Agenda [report on the Internet]. Melbourne (AUST): State Government of Victoria; 2007 [cited 2010 Jun 7]. Available from: http://www.dpc.vic.gov.au/
- 8. Productivity Commission. Potential Benefits of the National Reform Agenda [commission research paper]. Canberra (AUST): Commonwealth of Australia; 2007.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. National Health Priority Areas [subject areas on the Internet]. Canberra (AUST): AIHW; [cited 2010 Aug 2]. Available from: http://www.aihw.gov.au/nhpa/index.cfm
- National Preventative Taskforce. Australia: The Healthiest Country by 2020 National Preventative Health Strategy. Canberra (AUST): Commonwealth of Australia; 2009.
- 11. Wise M. The social determinants of health: How can a radical agenda be mainstreamed? *Can J Public Health*. 2009;100(4):291-3.
- 12. Kickbusch I, Buckett K, editors. *Implementing Health in All Policies*. Adelaide (AUST): State Government of South Australia; 2010.
- Mulgan G. Joined-up government now and in the future. Public Health Bulletin South Australia. 2008;5(1):8-12.

Authors

Andrew J Milat and Blythe J O'Hara, Centre for Health Advancement, NSW Health Department

Correspondence

Corresponding author: Andrew J Milat, Centre for Health Advancement, NSW Health Department. Fax: (02) 9424 5994; e-mail: amila@doh.health.nsw.gov.au

Recruiting hard-to-reach populations: lessons from a study of women living in socioeconomically disadvantaged areas of Victoria, Australia

Verity Cleland and Kylie Ball

Women living in socioeconomically disadvantaged areas are at heightened risk for physical inactivity, an important modifiable risk factor for a number of preventable diseases.¹ To best promote physical activity, we need to understand influences on physical activity and the feasibility of physical activity promotion strategies among this target group. However, those of lower socioeconomic position (SEP) are under-represented in research studies.^{2,3} Limited literature detailing effective strategies for recruiting low SEP populations exists. This letter outlines the strategies we employed in an attempt to recruit 25 women aged 18-45 years living in socioeconomically disadvantaged urban and rural areas of Victoria, Australia, into a qualitative study involving participation in a 30-60 minute interview. We hope that this letter stimulates discussion and debate about methods for recruiting populations of low SEP.

Three urban and three rural socioeconomically disadvantaged neighbourhoods were purposefully selected. During December 2009 – January 2010, recruitment brochures were delivered to households in three areas (5,288 households). Brochures described the study and encouraged eligible women to register interest via telephone, e-mail or the study website. To supplement recruitment, advertisements were placed in the 'Volunteers' section of local newspapers, a media release resulted in three local newspaper articles, and flyers/posters were distributed to local neighbourhood houses, libraries and community centres. These approaches resulted in eight women registering interest in the study, four of whom met inclusion criteria and three of whom subsequently participated.

In an attempt to address the low response rates resulting from the initial recruitment attempts, our second strategy involved amending the brochures to include a statement indicating that all participants would receive a compensatory \$20 gift voucher. After delivery to the remaining neighbourhoods (6,500 households) in February 2010, nine women registered interest, seven of whom met the inclusion criteria and six subsequently participated. A summary of the final response is detailed in the table. A further two women were recruited via snowballing techniques. A third recruitment strategy involved targeting women living in socioeconomically disadvantaged areas who were enrolled in a larger population-based health study, the Resilience for Eating and Activity Despite Inequality (READI) study.⁴ Invitation letters and brochures with details of the compensation voucher were sent to 210 eligible women. This strategy resulted in 11 women registering interest, eight of whom met the eligibility criteria and subsequently participated; one additional participant was recruited via snowballing techniques.

Collectively, these recruitment efforts resulted in 20 study participants. Of these, two heard about the study via the letterbox drop, four via advertisements or articles in local newspapers, two via flyers/posters in neighbourhood houses, nine were recruited from an existing cohort, and three were recruited via snowballing. The reasons for the poor response are unclear, but plausible explanations include poor timing (close to the Christmas period), misdirected targeting of the brochure (e.g. to households where there were no eligible women), lack of information about compensation in the initial recruitment efforts (although including this information did not appear to increase response), lack of interest in the topic area, or unwillingness to participate in a face-toface interview. In one neighbourhood, the manager of a neighbourhood house actively promoted the study, which was related to the participation of four women. Letterbox drops appear to be an ineffective recruitment strategy among this population group. Having a community 'champion' who has an established relationship with the population group may be an important component of studies aiming to recruit women from socioeconomically disadvantaged areas. Further work is needed to identify the most appropriate strategies for engaging women of low SEP in health research.

Acknowledgements

This study was funded by a National Health and Medical Research Council Strategic Award (#374241). VC is supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council Public Health Postdoctoral Training Fellowship (#533917). KB is supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council Public Health Senior Research Fellowship (#479513). The authors gratefully acknowledge the Project Manager, Mrs Miranda Stewart, and the READI study Project Manager, Dr Michelle Jackson.

References

- 1. Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, et al. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2007;39(8):1423-34.
- Madigan MP, Troisi R, Potischman N, Brogan D, Gammon MD, Malone KE, et al. Characteristics of respondents and non-respondents from a case-control study of breast cancer in younger women. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2000;29(5):793-8.
- Sheikh K, Mattingly S. Investigating non-response bias in mail surveys. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1981;35(4):293-6.
- Cleland V, Hume C, Crawford D, Timperio A, Hesketh K, Baur L, et al. Urban-rural comparison of weight status among women and children living in socioeconomically disadvantaged neighbourhoods. *Med J Aust*. 2010;192(3):137-40.

Authors

- Verity Cleland, Menzies Research Institute, University of Tasmania, and Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition Research, Deakin University, Victoria
- Kylie Ball, Centre for Physical Activity and Nutrition Research, Deakin University, Victoria

Correspondence

Corresponding author: Verity Cleland, Menzies Research Institute, University of Tasmania, Private Bag 23, Hobart 7001, Tasmania. Fax: (03) 6226 7704; e-mail: verity.cleland@utas.edu.au

Table: Response to brochures delivered to households with and without details of compensation for study participation.						
Brochure type	Timing	Area	Number of households	Registered interest	Met criteria	Participated
No detail of compensation	Dec 2009	Urban	4,533	8	4	3
	Jan 2010	Rural	755	0	0	0
Detail of compensation	Feb 2010	Urban	3,492	2	1	1
	Feb 2010	Rural	3,008	7	6	5
Total	Dec 2009 – Feb 2010	Urban and rural	11,788	17	11	9

Erratum

Health Promotion Journal of Australia 2010; 21:120-6

In the article entitled 'Fear and Shame: using theatre to destigmatise mental illness in an Australian Macedonian community' by Blignault et al., an incorrect year was used. Page 124, col. 2, para 3, line 3 should read:

When asked who they would contact for help if someone they knew was showing signs of mental illness, 84% of the overall sample nominated health workers or services in 2009 compared to 60% in 2003 (see Table 5).